RECEIVED

Oct 17 2023

SC Court of Appeals

**The State of South Carolina
In the Court of Appeals**

APPEAL FROM SUMTER COUNTY

Honorable R. Kirk Griffin, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2022-001444

The State Respondent

v.

Brittany Martin..... Appellant

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Meredith Dyer McPhail, #104551
David Allen Chaney, Jr., #104038
AMERICAN CIVIL LIBERTIES UNION OF SOUTH
CAROLINA
P.O. Box 1668
Columbia, SC 29202
(843) 259-2925
mmcphail@aclusc.org

Dr. Sybil Rosado, #104422
THE LAW OFFICE OF SYBIL D. ROSADO, LLC
2429 Haskell Ave.
Columbia, SC 29204
(803) 999-2029
sybil@rosado.law

Attorneys for Appellant

INTRODUCTION

Following the brutal murder of George Floyd by Minneapolis police officers, Brittany Martin took to the streets of Sumter, South Carolina, in protest. For five straight days, she joined millions of people worldwide to protest police violence and demand accountability for the killing of yet another Black man by American law enforcement. After five days of protesting without incident, Brittany Martin was arrested, prosecuted, and later convicted for the common law crime of Breach of Peace of a High and Aggravated Nature (“BOPHAN”). Following her conviction for BOPHAN, the trial court sparked national outrage by sentencing Ms. Martin, who was pregnant at the time, to four years of prison.

On appeal, Ms. Martin alleges five discrete errors.

To start, Ms. Martin’s conviction for BOPHAN violates the First Amendment and should be vacated. The First Amendment guarantees everyone the right to protest in a manner that “stir[s] people to anger, invite[s] public dispute, or [brings] about a condition of unrest.” *Edwards v. South Carolina*, 372 U.S. 229, 238 (1963). Yet here, Martin was convicted of a criminal offense for engaging in a nonviolent protest. Such a conviction cannot stand.

Second, the trial court reversibly erred by refusing to instruct the jury about Ms. Martin’s only defense to BOPHAN—that her conduct was protected by the First Amendment. Ms. Martin was charged with three different offenses arising from her conduct at Sumter’s George Floyd protests. Recognizing the obvious free speech issues raised by this case, the trial court agreed to instruct the jury about First Amendment protections on two of Ms. Martin’s charges, Incitement and Threatening a Public Official. Those charges did not result in convictions. But the court refused to instruct the jury about the First Amendment protections applicable to BOPHAN, and the jury convicted. Because there was a clear factual basis for a

First Amendment instruction and because the trial court’s unexplained denial of the instruction prejudiced Ms. Martin, reversal is warranted.

Third, Ms. Martin’s conviction for BOPHAN violates the Fourteenth Amendment’s prohibition on vague laws. Due process requires that all laws—particularly criminal laws that implicate free speech—be clearly defined so as to provide fair notice and to guard against arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement. BOPHAN, by contrast, is a common law offense that has been described by the South Carolina Supreme Court as “encompass[ing] a broad range of conduct” and “defy[ing] strict definition.” *State v. Simms*, 412 S.C. 590, 594, 774 S.E.2d 445, 447 (2015). Such a law cannot pass constitutional muster. Because no one, and particularly not a protester like Brittany Martin, can discern when their conduct morphs from protected to criminal, BOPHAN must be struck down as unconstitutionally vague.

Fourth, Ms. Martin’s BOPHAN conviction violates her state and federal constitutional rights to a unanimous verdict. Although a jury need not agree on the means through which an offense is committed, they must agree on the facts that comprise each element of the crime. *Richardson v. United States*, 526 U.S. 813, 817–18 (1999). Here, no such unanimity was ensured. Ms. Martin was charged with a vague law that can be satisfied in at least three separate ways and was accused of committing that offense sometime over the span of four separate days of protesting—May 31 through June 3. Furthermore, the State made no attempt to identify any *particular* conduct by Martin that met the elements of BOPHAN. Despite that, the jury was only generally instructed that their “verdicts” must be unanimous. Under these circumstances, the jury’s verdict on BOPHAN does not satisfy the constitutional requirement of unanimity.

Fifth and finally, Martin’s sentence is excessive and grossly disproportionate. The Eighth Amendment prohibits the imposition of punishments that far outstrip

the sentences ordinarily imposed for similar crimes. Here, the trial court was presented with ample evidence that a four-year prison sentence was *far* longer than what justice can allow. In Sumter, most BOPHAN convictions result in sentences to time served. Even in *Simms*, where the defendant was convicted of BOPHAN for violently attacking a man and causing his death, the prison sentence was only three years. 412 S.C. at 593. Given these comparators, Martin’s conviction for being (at worst) disruptive at a political protest is egregiously excessive. Ms. Martin was nonviolent and nondestructive. The jury concluded that she did not incite a riot and was unable to reach a verdict on whether she was threatening. On those facts, a four-year prison term violates the Eighth Amendment.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Does Martin’s conviction for BOPHAN—which is based on nonviolent, nonthreatening, and non-inciting conduct at a public protest—violate the First Amendment?
- II. Did the trial court reversibly err by refusing to instruct the jury about Martin’s First Amendment defense to BOPHAN?
- III. Is the crime of BOPHAN—which “encompass[es] a broad range of conduct,” and “deff[ies] strict definition,” *Simms*, 412 S.C. at 594—unconstitutionally vague on its face or as applied to Martin?
- IV. Does Martin’s conviction for BOPHAN—which was based on unidentified conduct over the span of four days—violate her Sixth Amendment right to a unanimous verdict?
- V. Is Martin’s four-year prison sentence for a nonviolent, nondestructive, and victimless crime violate the Eighth Amendment’s prohibition on grossly disproportionate in violation of the Eighth Amendment?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Following the murder of George Floyd on May 25, 2020, Brittany Martin—a Black woman, mother, chef, and activist—joined others to protest police violence in

the streets of Sumter, South Carolina. From May 30 through June 3, Ms. Martin and others exercised their First Amendment right to loudly and publicly express their grief, declare their outrage, and demand justice. Although Ms. Martin's conduct at the Sumter protests featured yelling, profanity, and harsh criticism of law enforcement, she never acted violently, destroyed property, or caused any injury.

Ms. Martin was arrested by the Sumter Police Department on one count of Instigating a Riot ("Incitement"), S.C. Code § 16-5-130(2), and five counts of Threatening the Life of a Public Official, S.C. Code § 16-3-1040(A). Nearly a year later, the Third Judicial Circuit Solicitor's Office convened a grand jury and indicted Ms. Martin on an additional count of Breach of Peace of a High and Aggravated Nature ("BOPHAN"), a common law offense. R. p 664-65. The operative indictment charged that Martin committed five counts of Threatening the Life of a Public Official on June 3, 2021, but alleged that the Incitement and BOPHAN counts occurred "on or about May 31, 2020 through June 3, 2020." R. p. 665.

At trial, the State called witnesses to testify, and Ms. Martin testified in her own defense. R. pp. 63-64. Ultimately, the jury acquitted Martin of Incitement, failed to reach a verdict on Threatening a Public Official, and convicted her of BOPHAN. R. p. 637, lines 5-25. Following the verdict, the trial court proceeded immediately to sentencing, R. p. 641, lines 18-23, imposed a four-year prison term R. p. 653, lines 18-20, and remanded Martin into custody without bail. Later motions for sentence reconsideration and for an appeal bond were denied. R. pp. 4-8, 34-51, 57-60.

This appeal followed.

Evidence at Trial

Ms. Martin and others protested on May 30th without incident. R. p. 183, lines 11-13.

On May 31st, Ms. Martin and others were holding signs and chanting things like “no justice, no peace” and “I can’t breathe” near the road in front of the Sumter Police Department. State’s Exhibits 1 & 2, V1817.¹ Some protesters, including Ms. Martin, entered the roadway at times. V1817. When approached by an officer, Ms. Martin calmly responded, “We’re protesting. We have every right to do what we’re doing. If we get met with any excessive force, we’re going to use our Second Amendment.” V1817 at 6:00. She continued chanting, “no justice no peace.” A few minutes later, as Ms. Martin walked past a different officer, she stated, “You human like I am. You bleed like I do. You cut my arm, I cut your arm. You black my eye, I black my—your, your eye. You kill me, I kill you. And that’s real.” V1817 at 8:02. The officer did not react, and Ms. Martin kept walking. Ms. Martin and other protesters wanted to march to the courthouse, R. p. 120, lines 11-13, and repeatedly requested police assistance in doing so, *see* V1827-2 at 1:09.

When protesters remained in the roadway, one officer stated, “if they don’t leave, we’re gonna mask up and gas them.” V1827-2 at 3:29. Other officers respond, “let’s do it.” V1827-2 at 3:29. The officers returned to their vehicles, prepared to gas the protesters, and awaited authorization to do so until they were told to “stand down.” V1827-2 at 3:50–5:40.

After speaking with officers about a march, Ms. Martin “instructed and spoke with her individuals that were with her. They all then at that time moved out of the roadway.” R. p. 120, line 24-p. 121, line 1; *see also* R. p. 146, lines 24-25 (Sgt. Maj. Sinkler testifying that officers “got them back on the sidewalk”). When the march began, protesters complied with officer instructions to occupy one lane of traffic behind a police escort. R. p. 121, lines 4-10; V1856. At the end of the escorted

¹ At trial, the videos (contained in State’s Exhibits 1 and 2) were referred to by numbers. Here, citations to the videos are indicated by ‘V’ followed by the specific video’s number.

march, an officer told the protesters, “y’all did good. I’m proud of y’all. I love y’all.” Although there was discord among the protesters and between the protesters and officers on May 31, there was no serious risk of harm, and no violence occurred. R. p. 159, line 20-p. 160, line 5, p. 161, lines 18-23.

The next day, June 1, Ms. Martin and others wanted to march again. As some protesters began to march on foot, Ms. Martin and others sought to accompany them riding inside of and on the roof and hood of two cars. V1945 at 0:58. When one of the SUVs slowly began to follow the march, Officer Raybon approached to try to stop the car until a police escort arrived. V1945 at 0:20. Ms. Martin stepped between Officer Raybon and the vehicle to ask that Officer Rabon step back. V1945 at 0:35. Officer Rabon put a hand on Ms. Martin’s shoulder, and Ms. Martin told the officers that she wanted to march. The first car slowly drove away, V1945 at 1:19, and after explaining, “I need to catch my crowd,” Ms. Martin walked away from Officer Rabon, got back on the hood of the other car, and said, “I’m telling you, if you want to fuck with—I’m the wrong one to fuck with.” V1945 at 1:49, 2:01, 2:10. The second car drove away without further incident. V1945 at 2:21. This entire interaction was captured in a video lasting only two minutes and forty-three seconds. V1945. Officer Rabon testified that this interaction is *not* what led to Ms. Martin’s later arrest. R. p. 212, lines 14-18 (responding “That’s correct” to the question, “So this behavior is not what led, the bigger part of it, this wasn't the ultimate night that led—the ultimate threat that led to her arrest, correct?”).

Later in the evening on June 1, Ms. Martin and other protesters reassembled at the Sumter Police Department. V2034. Protesters laid down on the ground in memory of George Floyd, shared their personal experiences with law enforcement, and addressed the police. V2034. When some protesters hugged officers, Ms. Martin expressed her anger at “lukewarm ass shit,” V2034 at 3:00, because “at that time we hadn’t come to a resolution,” R. p. 469, line 25-p. 470, line 1. Some officers did not

like what Ms. Martin was saying because, according to Officer Rabon's testimony, "[t]he people that were there for the right reason felt defeated." R. p. 187, lines 16-17. Ms. Martin and others continued to express grief and anger, at times addressing officers and at times addressing other protesters, without incident. V2034.

On June 2, protests continued at the Sumter Police Department. No testimony was offered that the demonstration was anything but lawful and peaceful. At the end of the evening, protesters congregated at an El Cheapo gas station. R. p. 484, lines 7-17. There, one officer, Major Colclough took the flag off his uniform, and he laid on the ground and allowed a protester to rest a knee on his neck as a symbol of solidarity with George Floyd. R. p. 489, lines 7-15, p. 493, lines 1-5, p. 496, lines 12-16. Though the State argued that Ms. Martin "victimized" and "torment[ed]" the officer, R. p. 492, line 19, p. 494, lines 24-25, Major Colclough testified that Ms. Martin did not force him to lie on the ground, R. p. 526, lines 22-25.

After leaving the El Cheapo gas station, many protesters went to a Sunoco gas station. R. p. 224, lines 11-18. Officers then received a 9-1-1 call from the Sunoco about a disturbance and shoplifting. R. p. 224, lines 11-13. Contrary to the State's insinuation, uncontroverted testimony established that Ms. Martin followed others to the Sunoco, R. p. 433, lines 8-12, and in fact, after arriving and discovering that some individuals were shoplifting, Ms. Martin stopped them, emphasizing, "we're not here for that," R. p. 434, lines 9-12. Officer Lyons even agreed under oath that he "wouldn't say that [Ms. Martin] is responsible for them shoplifting[.]" R. p. 232, lines 17-18. Video from the Sunoco shows Ms. Martin standing face-to-face with an officer speaking her mind. V2305. At no point does Ms. Martin touch the officer. V2305.

On June 3, officers set up a designated protest area and established a 6 PM curfew. R. p. 238, lines 21-23. The protest area was next to the roadway, separated

from the police department by green space and trees. V1705. During the day, Ms. Martin and others continued to protest on the steps of the Sumter Police Department. V1705. After the officers told her about the new restrictions, Ms. Martin began to leave the area. V1704 at 0:32. As she walked away, she said,

Go call all our hitters now. You tell them get ready. Everybody strapped, everybody. Y'all better be ready. The vests ain't gonna save you. Some of us gon' be hurt, and some of y'all gon' be hurt. We ready to die for this. We're tired of it. You better be ready to die for the blue. I'm ready to die for the black. I'm dying for the black, you better be ready for the die for the blue. Chief, it's your call. I got my people, you got your people.

V1704 at 0:32. At the bottom, of the stairs, Ms. Martin continued to say, "Fuck your curfew. Y'all will not keep killing us. Y'all will not keep hurting us." V1704 at 1:17. An officer approached the top of the steps, only feet away from Ms. Martin, and reread the new location and time restrictions to her through a bullhorn. V1705 at 0:30. Ms. Martin continued to protest the restrictions before walking away from the building. V1704 at 2:05.

Throughout trial, the State's officer-witnesses testified to their disapproval of, and even resentment toward, the content of Ms. Martin's speech and expressive conduct. Officer Rabon, for example, testified that she believed Ms. Martin "wasn't there with pure intentions," R. p. 215, lines 22-23, was "say[ing] awful things," R. p. 204, lines 9-11, and that she "just d[idn]'t see that she was trying to make a difference" R. p. 204, lines 13-15. Officer Singleton bemoaned that Ms. Martin "disparage[d] those officers and tr[ied] to tarnish that career and the noble profession." R. p. 257, lines 15-17. Chief Roark criticized that Ms. Martin's protests were not like other protests he viewed more favorably. R. p. 300, line 22-p. 301, line 16. The solicitor even attacked Ms. Martin personally, accusing her of having narcissistic personality disorder. R. p. 470, line 22-p. 471, line 2.

Closing Arguments

In closing arguments, the solicitor failed to specify what conduct the State believed constituted BOPHAN.² Instead, she vaguely argued that the jury should conclude that Martin’s conduct—which spanned five days of protesting in multiple locations—satisfied the elements of BOPHAN. *See* R. pp. 567-69. Rather than pointing to particular conduct, the solicitor urged the jury to simply “use its common sense” to answer: “Did [Martin] breach the peace of our community?” R. p. 568, lines 2-5 (State’s closing) (“[T]hat’s all we have to prove, ladies and gentlemen.”). And as proof that Martin’s conduct was high and aggravated, the solicitor argued that the jury should look to the subjective reactions of city officials:

[W]hen considering a high and aggravated nature, you need to look at what the officers had to do in light of Ms. Martin. A curfew had to be put in place, ladies and gentlemen. The chief, the mayor and city counsel felt the need to put this curfew in place to protect the citizens of Sumter and to protect these officers. A whole city shut down because of Brittany Martin and her group. That, ladies and gentlemen, is breach of peace in a high and aggravated nature.

R. p. 569, lines 5-14.

In closing, defense counsel argued that Ms. Martin’s speech and conduct was protected by the First Amendment. R. p. 576, lines 3-5, p. 596, lines 14-15.

In rebuttal, the prosecution disparaged Ms. Martin and her protest. R. p. 599, lines 20-23 (“If given olive branches, Dr. King took them. Brittany Martin didn’t take olive branches. How insulting to Dr. King.”); R. p. 601, lines 3-12 (“While watching these videos, ask yourself if it truly is attempting to discuss with officers. . . Is it a statement about how things work in the community? Is it a critical

² The solicitor devoted far more time to the charges for Incitement and Threatening a Public Official. Because those charges did not result in a conviction, they are not discussed here.

dialogue? . . . Is it political commentary? Is it diverse ideas standing next to each other and thriving? When peaceful protesters are pushed away, is that everybody thriving?"); R. p. 603, line 21-p. 604, line 1 ("You can tell that Brittany Martin has to be told yes. And if not, it's a personal injustice to her. And she speaks even more loudly, but she acts even more poorly. She likes to exercise control and she never stops to think about her—how her behavior victimizes everyone else.").

Jury Instructions & Deliberations

In support of her First Amendment defense, Ms. Martin requested that the jury be instructed about the First Amendment protections afforded to her on each charged offense. R. pp. 16-33; *see also* R. p. 546, lines 9-16. The trial court agreed to do so for Incitement and Threatening a Public Official but refused to instruct the jury regarding the First Amendment protections applicable to the BOPHAN count. *See generally* R. pp. 610-25 (jury instructions); *compare* R. pp. 619-20 (BOPHAN) *with* R. pp. 620-21 (Incitement) & R. pp. 622-23 (Threatening a Public Official). Before charging the jury on the offense-specific principles, the trial court instructed the jury to consider "each charge separately on the evidence and law applicable to it uninfluenced by . . . any other charges." R. p. 612, lines 20-24.

The trial court's entire instruction on the BOPHAN charge was:

Ladies and gentlemen, the Defendant is charged in the indictment with breach of peace of a high and aggravated nature. Breach of peace is the violation of the public order or the disturbance of the public peace or any act or conduct inciting violence. This includes any violation of any law enacted to preserve peace in good order.

Peace means the peace which is enjoyed by the citizens of the community, whether certain conduct constitutes a breach of peace depends on the time, place and nearness of other persons.

Although a breach of peace includes acts which are likely to produce violence, the State is not required to prove that

actual violence took place or that the peace was actually broken. If what was done was unjustifiable and unlawful, tending with sufficient directness to break the peace, no more is required.

Breach of peace of a high and aggravated nature, a person of guilty—is guilty of that charge if the person was an affrayer, rioter, disturber and breaker of the peace or was dangerous and disorderly or when armed offensively to the terror of the public.

R. pp. 619-20.

Unlike its BOPHAN instruction, which was read first, the court twice instructed the jury that the State’s charge of Incitement “must not be construed to prevent peaceable assembling of persons for lawful purposes or protest or petition.” R. p. 620, lines 23-25, p. 621, lines 8-10. Then, in its instruction describing Threatening a Public Official, the court went to great lengths to explain the protections of the First Amendment. The court instructed the jury that:

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