RECEIVED

Oct 13 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Sumter County
Honorable R. Kirk Griffin, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2022-001444

The State,

Respondent,

vs.

Brittany Martin,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 76901

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3727

ERNEST A. FINNEY, III
Solicitor, Third Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

- I. **Appellant never sought to challenge her conviction for BOPHAN on the basis that it encroached on the First Amendment, so those claims are not properly preserved for review on appeal. Further, she never moved for a directed verdict related to the BOPHAN charge, so any claim regarding insufficiency of evidence is not preserved for review on appeal. To the extent this Court should conduct an independent examination of the factual basis for the conviction to ensure it is not violative of the First Amendment, there is ample evidence of behaviors constituting breach of the peace of a high and aggravated nature which do not encroach on the First Amendment.**

Appellant raises multiple claims arguing the State failed to provide sufficient evidence of BOPHAN that did not involve constitutionally protected behavior. Any challenge is not preserved for review on appeal. To the extent this Court seeks to perform an independent examination of Appellant's conviction to ensure it did not impermissibly encroach on the First Amendment, there is ample evidence of behaviors outside the protection of the First Amendment which constitute proof of BOPHAN.

Initially, any claims regarding the sufficiency of the evidence and the failure of the trial court to ensure the conviction did not encroach on Appellant's First Amendment rights is not preserved for review on appeal. Appellant never raised a directed verdict motion related to the BOPHAN charge. She raised a directed verdict claim as it relates to both the riot and threatening charges, but not as to BOPHAN. State v. Kennerly, 331 S.C. 442, 455, 503 S.E.2d 214, 221 (Ct. App. 1998) ("In reviewing a denial of directed verdict, issues not raised to the trial court in support of the directed verdict motion are not preserved for appellate review."). A defendant cannot argue on appeal an issue in support of her directed verdict motion when the issue was not presented to

the trial court below. See State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) (“A party cannot argue one ground for a directed verdict in trial and then an alternative ground on appeal.”).

Even if this Court determines to conduct its own examination of the record, the evidence demonstrates the conviction was not based on protected speech. The First Amendment provides: “Congress shall make no law respecting an establishment of religion, or prohibiting the free exercise thereof; or abridging the freedom of speech, or of the press; or the right of the people peaceably to assemble, and to petition the Government for a redress of grievances.” U.S. Const. amend. I.

Initially, Appellant and her group engaged in a protest down the middle of a busy road, refusing to move to a sidewalk or out of the roadway. Instead of moving, Appellant engaged in a chest bumping with an officer who was simply trying to reopen the road to oncoming traffic. The following day, she again interrupted traffic and engaged in dangerous behavior on the same street as she rode on top of a moving vehicle.

The United States Supreme Court has explained: “The fundamental right to speak, however, does not leave people at liberty to publicize their views ‘whenever and however and wherever they please.’” Wood v. Moss, 572 U.S. 744, 745 (2014) (quoting United States v. Grace, 461 U.S. 171 (1983)). As one court correctly noted: “The First Amendment does not entitle a citizen to trespass, block traffic, or create hazards for others.” Frye v. Police Dep't of Kansas City, Mo., 260 F.Supp.2d 796, 799 (W.D.Mo. 2003). The United States Supreme Court articulated:

When protest takes the form of mass demonstrations, parades, or picketing on public streets and sidewalks, the free passage of traffic and the prevention of public disorder and violence become important objects of legitimate state concern. As the Court stated, in Cox v. State of Louisiana, ‘We emphatically reject the notion that the First and Fourteenth Amendments afford the same kind of freedom to those who would communicate ideas by conduct such as patrolling, marching, and picketing on streets and highways, as these

amendments afford to those who communicate ideas by pure speech.’ 379 U.S. 536, 555, 85 S.Ct. 453, 464, 13 L.Ed.2d 471.

Walker v. City of Birmingham, 388 U.S. 307, 316 (1967). As seen in the video on State’s Exhibit 1, much of the events of May 31 and June 1 took place down the center of a busy street, ignoring requests by law enforcement to exit the road to allow cars to pass, and even became physical with Appellant chest bumping officers. This behavior is beyond the bounds protected by the First Amendment and can give rise to the charge of BOPHAN.

Additionally, as noted above, the First Amendment does not allow protestors to trespass and to cause harm to businesses during their protest. In this case, both the El Cheapo gas station and Sunoco gas stations had their operations interrupted by Appellant and the protests she was leading. (State’s Exhibit 5). Again, this is the type of behavior that is not protected by the First Amendment.

Finally, the fighting words and threats directed at officers on June 3 go well beyond protected speech. See Counterman v. Colorado, 143 S. Ct. 2106, 2114 (2023) (“ ‘True threats’ of violence is another historically unprotected category of communications. . . . True threats are ‘serious expression[s]’ conveying that a speaker means to ‘commit an act of unlawful violence.’”); Brandenburg v. Ohio, 395 U.S. 444, 447–48 (1969) (finding advocacy “directed to inciting or producing imminent lawless action and is likely to incite or produce such action” and concluding “mere abstract teaching . . . of the moral propriety or even moral necessity for a resort to force and violence, is not the same as preparing a group for violent action and steeling it to such action.”). In the instant case, even if this Court considers the entirety of the record, the conviction for BOPHAN was supported by ample evidence demonstrating behavior beyond the protection of the First Amendment.

Appellant attempts to compare the facts of this case to United States Supreme Court decisions from the civil rights movement including, *inter alia*, Barr v. City of Columbia, 378 U.S. 146 (1964) and Edwards v. South Carolina, 372 U.S. 229 (1963). Those cases and their facts are vastly different than the behaviors of Appellant during these protests. In Barr, the defendants were involved in a “sit-in” as part of the civil rights movement. While sitting patiently and quietly at the counter seeking merely to be served, they were arrested for breach of the peace among other charges when they refused to leave after service was denied. Barr, 378 U.S. at 147-148. In Edwards, 187 defendants were convicted of breach of peace. They entered the State House grounds, walked in an “orderly way” for 30-45 minutes while carrying placards, and there was “no obstruction of pedestrian or vehicular traffic.” Edwards, 372 U.S. at 230-232. As discussed, there was nothing quiet or polite about Appellant’s behavior and significant issues occurred to a private business and traffic based on the protestors’ complete disregard for the remaining public.

This case is closer to, but still much more severe than, the disorderly conduct discussed in Feiner v. New York, 340 U.S. 315, 318 (1951). In Feiner, the situation was more hostile than in either Barr or Edwards. The defendant urged people to “rise up in arms and fight for equal rights.” As the crowd became more agitated, police sought to have him get down off a box and disperse the crowd. The crowd blocked pedestrian movement and spilled into the street interfering with traffic. The defendant ignored the request to cease multiple times and was arrested. The Supreme Court upheld his conviction for disorderly conduct even against a challenge based on the First Amendment.

Appellant’s behavior went well beyond the protections afforded by the First Amendment. She interfered with traffic, chest bumped officers seeking merely to clear a roadway, confronted officers in the middle of gas station parking lots interfering with the usual course of the businesses,

and directly threatened to get “hitters” who were “strapped” with guns to go to “war” and hurt or kill law enforcement officers. Her behavior is certainly not the behavior demonstrated in Barr and Edwards and, instead, qualifies as a breach of the peace of a high and aggravated nature.

II. The trial court did not err in failing to provide the requested jury instruction regarding the First Amendment.

Appellant maintains the trial court erred in failing to give a jury instruction related to the First Amendment directly connected to the jury charge for BOPHAN. The issue is not preserved for review, and even if preserved, the jury instruction when read as a whole properly charged the jury.

Initially, the issue is not properly preserved for review on appeal. The trial court asked for proposed jury instructions from the parties. Appellant provided proposed jury instructions. (Proposed Jury Instructions; R.16). The jury instruction related to BOPHAN provides the suggested elements of the offense and then a series of case citations with parentheticals and general case discussion related to the First Amendment. It does not provide the discussion regarding the First Amendment in a manner consistent with an appropriate jury instruction. Further, the trial court specifically noted:

I'll read appropriate portions of Ms. Rosado's charge where that -- where that concept is conveyed to the jury. I think a lot of, Ms. Rosado, what you've submitted is while certainly good law, I think some of it is commentary by the Court, you know. I'm going to limit it to elemental portions of the law, so.

(5/16T.18; R.555). The trial court also explained:

I'm making my notes as to what I think is appropriate charge from what's been submitted. I'm really kind of -- I've stricken through -- and I'm going to be working on this -- here's what I'll do. As you're making your closings, I will do my best to make it clear on what's been submitted, what I'm charging and what I'm not. We'll take a break after the closings. We'll make copies of the charge and I'll give them to you before I charge on the law.

(5/16T.22; R.559). Afterward, Appellant's counsel responded: "Thank you, Your Honor" indicating her acceptance of the procedure. (5/16T.22; R.559).

After closing arguments were completed, the trial court provided the parties with a copy of the proposed jury instructions to be given. (5/16T.69-70; R.606-607). After brief discussion between the trial court and parties that did not relate to the BOPHAN jury instruction, the judge charged the jury. At no point after receiving the court's proposed instructions did Appellant indicate the instruction on BOPHAN was lacking, deficient, insufficient, or problematic as it related to the First Amendment. Even after the trial court charged the jury, Appellant never indicated any issue with regard to the charge to the jury on the First Amendment. As a result, she did not raise any objection to the trial court and cannot now complain on appeal. See State v. Avery, 333 S.C. 284, 296, 509 S.E.2d 476, 483 (1998) (stating when an instruction as given is inadequate, a party must object at the completion of the instructions in order to preserve the issue for review); State v. Ford, 334 S.C. 444, 513 S.E.2d 385 (Ct. App. 1999) (to preserve objection to jury charge, defendant must raise the issue at trial).

Even if preserved, the jury charge as a whole is a proper statement of the law and correctly advised the jury on how to consider the First Amendment as it related to all three charges. "An appellate court will not reverse the trial judge's decision regarding a jury charge absent an abuse of discretion." State v. Mattison, 388 S.C. 469, 479, 697 S.E.2d 578, 584 (2010) (citing State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 647 S.E.2d 144 (2007)). "A jury charge is correct if, when the charge is read as a whole, it contains the correct definition and adequately covers the law." Mattison, 388 S.C. at 478, 697 S.E.2d at 583 (citations omitted). "The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial." State v. Knoten, 347 S.C. 296, 302, 555 S.E.2d 391, 394 (2001). "In reviewing jury charges for error, [the Court] must consider the court's jury charge as a whole in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial." State v. Adkins, 353 S.C. 312, 318, 577 S.E.2d 460, 463 (Ct. App. 2013).

In the instant case, the trial court defined the elements of the three offenses. (5/16T.82-85; R. 619-622). After charging on the elements of the three offenses, the court explained to the jury the impact of the First Amendment and its protections of speech. (5/16T.85-86; R.622-623). As a result, the jury would understand that the First Amendment protection “protects a significant amount of verbal criticism in challenge directed at police officers.” The jury was explained the requirement that the words had to make it “inherently likely under circumstances to cause an average person to react with violence and playing no role in the expression of ideas” in order to form the basis of a conviction. (5/16T.85; R.622). As a result, the jury was properly charged regarding the role of the First Amendment and the type of speech which could still result in the conviction of Appellant.

III. Appellant never challenged the constitutionality of the common law offense of BOPHAN as unconstitutionally vague, so the issue is not preserved for review on appeal.

Appellant contends the common law offense of BOPHAN is unconstitutionally vague. However, this issue was not presented to the trial court. Even constitutional challenges must be properly preserved to be raised on appeal. See e.g., State v. Langford, 400 S.C. 421, 446, 735 S.E.2d 471, 484 (2012) (“Constitutional issues are not exempt from issue preservation requirements.”); State v. Stahlnecker, 386 S.C. 609, 617, 690 S.E.2d 565, 570 (2010) (“For an issue to be properly preserved it has to be raised to and ruled on by the trial court.”).

Appellant never challenged the constitutionality of the common law offense of BOPHAN. In a motion filing, Appellant “pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(1)” submitted Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction. Appellant, citing to the dissent in State v. Simms, 412 S.C. 590, 600, 774 S.E.2d 445, 450 (2015), claimed there is no criminal offense in South Carolina called BOPHAN. This claim is vastly different than the claim on appeal that the offense is unconstitutionally vague. See State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003) (holding a defendant may not argue one ground at trial and another on appeal). As a result, the issue is not properly preserved for review on appeal.

Further, the South Carolina Supreme Court has stated: “it is this Court’s firm policy to decline to rule on constitutional issues unless such a ruling is required.” In re McCracken, 346 S.C. 87, 92, 551 S.E.2d 235, 238 (2001); see also, Morris v. Anderson Cty., 349 S.C. 607, 610–11, 564 S.E.2d 649, 651 (2002) (refusing to issue “an advisory ruling . . . on a constitutional issue” finding to do so “would violate our firm policy of declining to reach constitutional issues unless necessary to the resolution of the appeal before us.”). “The Court will avoid, when possible, passing upon the constitutionality of an Act of the Legislature.” Sanders v. Anderson Cty., 195 S.C. 171, 10

S.E.2d 364, 364 (1940). The Court has found that where a ruling on one issue is dispositive, “we therefore refrain from ruling on the constitutional questions raised.” Riverwoods, LLC v. Cty. of Charleston, 349 S.C. 378, 387, 563 S.E.2d 651, 656 (2002). As a ruling on the constitutionality of the common law offense of BOPHAN is unnecessary in light of the lack of preservation, this Court should decline to address the issue.

IV. Appellant never raised a claim regarding the unanimity of her conviction, so the issue is not preserved for review on appeal.

Appellant contends the trial court erred in failing to ensure the verdict was unanimous as to the conduct resulting in the BOPHAN charge. This issue was never raised to the trial court and, therefore, is not properly preserved for review on appeal.

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